Consumer Account Disclosure and Agreement

Effective May 1, 2023





This document concerns the following account disclosures:

- Consumer Account Disclosure and Agreement
- Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for Consumer Accounts
- Business Account Disclosure and Agreement
- Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for Business Accounts

Please read and keep this notice with your important account records. You can access these account disclosures on our website at firstrepublic.com. Should you have any questions or would like to receive a printed copy of the referenced account disclosures previously provided to you, please contact your First Republic banker.

Effective May 1, 2023, deposit products and services are offered by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Member FDIC. All references to First Republic Bank, First Republic, or the Bank in any account disclosures, agreements, communications or other applicable materials, now refer to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. All terms and conditions, fees and rates for accounts, products and services referenced in these disclosures govern your account relationship with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and are in full force and effect as disclosed until otherwise communicated.

Deposit accounts opened on or after May 1, 2023, are deposit accounts with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and are insured by the FDIC up to the applicable limits for depositors of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

All other terms and conditions of our account disclosures remain in full force and effect. Terms, conditions and fees for accounts, products, programs and services are subject to change. Updated: July 19, 2023

Personal Service Flexibility Quick Decisions Experience Responsiveness

Welcome to First Republic Bank. Thank you for opening an account with us.

This Account Disclosure and Agreement is designed to explain, in detail, First Republic's deposit accounts for consumer clients and how they work for you. Please take a moment to become familiar with its contents.

Our experienced Bankers are ready to answer your questions and assist you with your financial needs.

We appreciate your business and are committed to keeping you a satisfied client for many years to come.

First Republic Bank Consumer Account Disclosure and Agreement

Table of Contents

Your Account Agreement	4
Terms	4
Severability	4
Governing Law and Rules	4
Privacy Policy	5
ACCOUNT OPENING / OWNERSHIP / MAINTENANCE	5
Identification	5
New Account Verification	5
Verification of Your Mobile Number	5
Types of Account Ownership	5
Power of Attorney	7
Changes in Account Ownership, Address and Authorized Signers	7
Transfers/Assignments	8
Amendments/Changes in Account Terms	8
Conflicting Demands/Disputes	8
Indemnification	9
Security Interest	9
Protecting Your Identity	9
Electronic Communications	9
Telephone and Electronic Communication Monitoring	10
Consent for Us to Contact You	10
Fraud Prevention and Security	10
Subaccounts	10
Compliance With Laws	11
Deposit Insurance	11
Withholding of Income Tax	11
Our Consumer Accounts	12
Checking Accounts	12
Money Market Accounts	14
Passbook Savings	16

Time Deposits	17
Senior/Minor Checking and Savings Accounts (Available Only in Massachusetts)	21
Individual Retirement Accounts ("IRAs")	21
Linking Your Accounts to the Business Analyzed Checking Account	
ACCOUNT TRANSACTIONS	. 22
Cutoff Hours	. 22
Authorized Signers	. 22
Limitations	23
Checks	23
Remotely Created Checks and Demand Drafts	23
Remote Transfer Instructions	24
Security Procedure	24
Adjustments	25
Unauthorized Transactions and Errors	25
Deposits	26
Withdrawals	28
Wire and Other Fund Transfers	. 32
Payment Orders	. 32
Processing Orders	. 33
Cutoff Hours	. 33
Payment Order Accuracy	. 33
Cancellation and Amendment of Payment Orders	. 33
Foreign Transfers	. 33
Security Procedure	. 34
Notice of Errors	. 34
Limitation of Liability	. 34
Funds Availability	. 35
Your Ability to Withdraw Funds	. 35
Longer Delays May Apply	. 35
Special Rules for New Accounts	. 36
Holds on Other Funds	. 36
ELECTRONIC BANKING	37
ATM Card and ATM/Debit Card	37
Electronic Check Conversion	
Preauthorized/Automatic Transfers	. 38
How to Stop Preauthorized Transfers from Your Account	. 38
Record of Your Transactions	. 39
Our Liability for Failing to Make Transfers	
Your Liability for Unauthorized Electronic Fund Transfers	. 40

In Case of Errors or Questions About Your Electronic Fun Transfers	
Consumer International Remittances / Wire Transfers	
Fees	43
Business Days	44
Confidentiality at First Republic Bank	44
Change in Terms / Termination of Service	44
Account Statements, Notices and Periodic Statements	44
Check Images	45
Substitute Checks	45
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES	47
Death or Adjudication of Incompetence	47
Inactive Accounts	48
Legal Process	48
Setoff	49
Termination/Closing Your Account	49
Force Majeure	49
DISPUTE RESOLUTION	50
California	50
Other States	50
All States	51
Limitation on Time to Bring Action	51
Maiyora	E1

Your Account Agreement

This Account Disclosure and Agreement ("Agreement") describes the terms of each of your consumer deposit accounts with First Republic Bank. Here "consumer" means any account which is held or maintained primarily for personal, family or household purposes.

It is important that you carefully review this Agreement and keep it for later reference. By opening a First Republic Bank account you are agreeing to our account requirements, to the features and provisions of the applicable account documents, and to the following terms and conditions that are now in effect or as hereafter amended.

These terms, your signature card, our fee schedule, the rate sheet and the certificate of deposit (if applicable) that you receive when you open your account, represent our agreement with you and contain important information about your account. Please read them carefully. By signing our signature card, requesting an account or maintaining an account, you acknowledge that you have reviewed, understand and agree to these terms. Please pay particular attention to the "Dispute Resolution" provision. If a dispute arises between us, you or we may require that it be resolved through judicial reference or arbitration, rather than by jury trial.

Terms

In this booklet, the words "you", "your" and "client(s)" refer to the owners and authorized signers of an account; "we," "us" and "Bank" refer to First Republic Bank. Our "business days" are Monday through Friday, excluding holidays. Unless otherwise specified, the times indicated are local time in the state where your Preferred Banking Office ("Office") is located.

Severability

If any of the provisions of this agreement are determined to be void or invalid, the remainder of the agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

Governing Law and Rules

To the extent this agreement is subject to the laws of any state, it will be subject to, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of California, without regard to its conflict of law provisions. If you are a resident of another state, some of the laws of that state (e.g., involving escheat, Legal Process (defined here as including any garnishment, levy, execution, attachment, tax withholding order, restraining order, subpoena, warrant, injunction, government agency request for information, forfeiture or other similar legal process), setoffs and privacy) also may apply. Your accounts and services also will be subject to applicable clearinghouse, Federal Reserve Bank, fundstransfer system, image exchange and correspondent bank rules ("Rules"). You agree that we do not have to notify you of a change

in the Rules, except to the extent required by law. If there is any inconsistency between the terms of this agreement and the Rules, the terms of this agreement shall supersede the Rules, unless otherwise provided in the Rules.

Privacy Policy

First Republic's Privacy Policy describes our policies and practices with respect to the collection, protection, use and sharing of personal information. The type of personal information we collect depends on the First Republic products or services you use or have applied to use. Please refer to our Privacy Policy or view our Privacy Policy at https://www.firstrepublic.com/privacy/policy.

Account Opening / Ownership / Maintenance

Identification

To help the government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, federal law requires us to obtain, verify and record information that identifies each person who opens an account. When you apply for an account, we will ask for your name, address, date of birth and other information that will allow us to identify you. We may also ask to see your driver's license or other identifying documents.

All documentation you provide to us in connection with establishing your account must be in a form satisfactory to us.

New Account Verification

You authorize us to obtain verifications of your bank account history, including inquiries to consumer reporting agencies that maintain such information, in conjunction with the application, update or renewal of a deposit account. You understand that we request this information for legitimate business reasons. If any information obtained from any such verification or report causes us to deny the application for an account or take any other action with respect to an account, you also authorize us to communicate to any co-applicant that the denial was based in whole or in part on such information.

Verification of Your Mobile Number

When you establish a relationship with us, you authorize your wireless carrier to use or disclose information about your account and your wireless device, if available, to us or our service provider(s) for the duration of your business relationship, solely to help us identify you or your wireless device and to prevent fraud. This also applies to any signers approved to open or close accounts or conduct transactions on your behalf. Please refer to our Privacy Policy or view our Privacy Policy at https://www.firstrepublic.com/privacy/policy.

Types of Account Ownership

Individual Account – An account owned in the name of one person only.

Joint with Right of Survivorship Account or Joint Account – An account owned in the names of more than one person in joint tenancy. If one owner dies, ownership of the account will automatically pass to the surviving joint owner(s). Personal accounts opened by two or more individuals are assumed to be joint tenancy accounts with the right of survivorship. We can act on the instruction of any one or more of the joint account owners. In the event of conflicting instructions or a dispute, we may require all joint account owners to act together in giving

us instructions or performing transactions. Any joint account

owner may close a joint account.

Each account owner is jointly and severally responsible for all activity related to the joint account, including responsibility for paying overdrafts created by any authorized signer(s) or party to the account, whether or not they participate in the transaction or benefit from its proceeds. We may be required by legal process to pay all the funds in a Joint Account to satisfy a judgment against any or all account owners.

Tenancy by the Entirety Account ("TBE") – If you own an account jointly with your spouse in a state that recognizes TBE as a form of ownership you may make a notation on your signature card that you designate the account as a Tenancy by the Entirety. With regard to your relationship with us, under this Agreement we will treat the account for all purposes as a Joint Account, including, but not limited to, processing of legal orders, setoffs and overdraft liability.

Tenants in Common Account – An account owned in the names of more than one person with equal or unequal shares of ownership interests. Co-tenants do not have automatic rights of survivorship and can bequeath their share of the account to anyone upon their death.

If you select a Tenants in Common account, each account owner while living may act for the other account owner(s) and will have full authority to withdraw any amount, request us to act upon his or her instructions, close the account, remove the other account owner(s) or take any other action with respect to the account.

All Joint Accounts – With a Joint Account, TBE or a Joint Tenants in Common Account, we can act on the instructions of any one or more joint account owner(s) whose signature is on file with us. We may, at our discretion, not honor requests, if not legally obligated, to "block" or "freeze" the account given to us by an individual account owner. Similarly, we may, at our discretion, not accept instructions from one account owner to disregard the instructions provided by another account owner, since all account owners have full right to dispose of any or all of the account funds. In the event there is a dispute involving any one or more of the account owners, it is up to the account owners to resolve the dispute amongst themselves. Pending such resolution we may "block," "freeze," "close" or take any other action with respect to an account in our sole discretion.

Totten Trust Account - An account where you designate another person as beneficiary of the account. This type of account,

sometimes referred to as an "In Trust For" ("ITF") or "As Trustee For" ("ATF") or "Pay on Death" ("POD") account, passes to the designated beneficiaries upon the death of all account owners. During their lifetime, the owner(s) may exercise full control over the account and may make deposits to and withdrawals from the account. Upon the death of the last surviving owner, the account funds pass to the surviving beneficiaries. If there is more than one surviving beneficiary, each will receive an equal share of the funds. The owner(s) may change beneficiaries during their lifetimes by updating our account documentation.

Trust Account – An account owned by a trust created under a written trust agreement or declaration of trust. In some cases, the trust must have its own Taxpayer Identification Number issued by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). Additional documentation is required to open the account.

Uniform Transfers to Minors Account ("UTMA") – An account owned by a minor, who receives the funds as a permanent (irrevocable) gift. An adult custodian controls and manages the account for the benefit of the minor. The definition of a minor varies by state; however, generally, one custodian and one minor are allowed per account. We act only upon the custodian's instructions. You may wish to consult your tax advisor or attorney before opening a UTMA account.

Estate Account – An account opened by a court-appointed fiduciary to manage the property ("the estate") of an incapacitated or deceased individual. The estate may have its own Taxpayer Identification Number issued by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). Additional documentation is required to open the account.

Power of Attorney

Any owner may appoint an attorney-in-fact for an account and may revoke a power of attorney. You should notify us in advance if you plan to create a power of attorney involving your account. Upon request, we may provide you with a power of attorney form for that purpose. We generally will accept a durable Uniform Statutory Form Power of Attorney that complies with state law. We may refuse to accept other forms of powers of attorney, however, with or without cause.

We may act on the instructions of an attorney-in-fact whether or not the attorney in fact relationship is noted in the instruction (e.g., on any check signed by the attorney-in-fact). You can revoke your power of attorney by sending a written notice to us. We assume no duty to monitor the actions of your attorney-in-fact to ensure that (s)he acts for your benefit.

Changes in Account Ownership, Address and Authorized Signers

You agree to notify us immediately in writing of any change in your name, address, email address, business capacity (e.g., individual to sole proprietor), or the authorized signers on your account. We may require a new signature card or other documentation before giving effect to any change in ownership or authorized

signers. We may rely on our account records to determine the ownership of your account.

If the authorized persons on your account change, we may continue to honor items and instructions given earlier by any previously authorized person(s) until we receive specific notice from you in writing not to do so. (Note: A new or updated signature card, by itself, does not constitute notice to terminate any pre-existing payment or transfer plan.) In some instances we may require you to close your account or provide us with stop payment orders in order to prevent transactions from occurring. There may be a delay in implementing a change in the authorized persons on our records, and you agree that we will be given a reasonable opportunity to make the changes necessary.

Transfers/Assignments

Unless otherwise agreed by us in writing, all accounts are non-transferable and non-negotiable. You may not grant, transfer or assign any of your rights to an account without our prior written consent. We are not required to accept or recognize an attempted assignment of your account or any interest in it, including a notice of security interest.

Amendments/Changes in Account Terms

We may add to, delete or change the terms of our agreement with you at any time by mailing, emailing or delivering a notice, a statement message or an amended agreement to any of you at the last address (location or email) on file for you, your account or the service in question. Unless otherwise required by law, we may amend the agreement without prior notice (e.g., by posting the information in our Offices, on our website, or otherwise making it available to you). Please retain all amendments and notifications with copies of the agreements and account disclosures we provided to you when opening your account.

We may substitute similar services or discontinue currently offered services for certain accounts by giving you prior notice. We do not have to notify you, however, of any changes that are beneficial to you (e.g., a reduction or waiver of any fees or the addition of services) or if the change is required for security reasons.

Conflicting Demands/Disputes

If there is any uncertainty regarding the ownership of an account or its funds, there are conflicting demands over its ownership or control, we are unable to determine any person's authority to give us instructions, we are requested by Adult Protective Services or any similar state or local agency to freeze the account or reject a transaction due to the suspected financial abuse of an elder or dependent adult, or we believe a transaction may be fraudulent or may violate any law, we may, at our sole discretion: (1) freeze the account and refuse transactions until we receive written proof (in form and substance satisfactory to us) of each person's right and authority over the account and its funds; (2) refuse transactions and return checks, marked "Refer to Maker" (or similar language); (3) require the signatures of all

authorized signers for the withdrawal of funds, the closing of an account or any change in the account regardless of the number of authorized signers on the account; (4) request instructions from a court of competent jurisdiction at your expense regarding the account or transaction; (5) close the account and remit the balance in a check payable to the account owner(s) of record; and/or (6) continue to honor checks and other instructions given to us by persons who appear as authorized signers according to our records. The existence of the rights set forth above shall not impose an obligation on us to assert such rights or to deny a transaction.

Indemnification

Except as otherwise set forth in this agreement, you agree to indemnify, defend and hold us harmless from all claims, actions, proceedings, fines, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, attorney fees) related to or arising out of: (a) your actions or omissions in connection with your accounts or our services, or (b) our actions or omissions, provided that they are taken/omitted in accordance with this agreement or your instructions. This provision shall survive the termination of this agreement.

Security Interest

You grant us a security interest in your account, including all current and future deposits and renewals, for amounts owing to us now and/or in the future under this agreement or under any account service agreement by any owner. This provision does not apply to IRA or tax-qualified retirement accounts or where otherwise prohibited by law.

Protecting Your Identity

Never disclose your PIN or password to anyone. Our employees will never ask you for your PIN, and we will not send unsolicited emails to you that request personal information.

Electronic Communications

At our option, any Communication (defined below), including such Communications otherwise required to be written or in writing, may be in the form of an electronic record and be executed using electronic signatures. Any Communication may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which may be executed on paper or electronically. An electronic or other copy of a signed Communication shall be considered as effective as an original. Communications may be sent electronically by us (i) by sending the Communication to the recipient's Authorized Email Address (defined below), or (ii) by posting the Communication on a website and sending a notice to the recipient's postal address or Authorized Email Address. In the absence of actual notice of non-delivery received by us, Communications sent electronically pursuant to this paragraph shall be effective when sent and shall constitute notice of the Communication. For the avoidance of doubt, the authorization under this paragraph may include, without limitation, use or acceptance by us of a manually signed paper Communication that has been converted into electronic form (for example, through being as scanned into a PDF), or an electronically signed Communication converted into another format, for transmission, delivery and/or retention. As used in this paragraph, the term "Communications" means any notices, disclosures, authorizations, agreements, account statements, tax forms and reports, acknowledgements and other documents that we are required or otherwise elect to provide or make available to you, or that you submit, execute or agree to in connection with your relationship with us. As used in this paragraph, "Authorized Email Address" means any email address you have provided to us.

Telephone and Electronic Communication Monitoring

In accordance with applicable laws, we may monitor or record telephone conversations and electronic communications for quality control and fraud prevention purposes. Please refer to our Privacy Policy or view our Privacy Policy at https://www.firstrepublic.com/privacy/policy.

Consent for Us to Contact You

You agree that we or our agents may contact you at any telephone number you provide to us, including any mobile phone number. You authorize us to send text messages and make prerecorded or autodialed calls to any number(s) you provide. Your service provider may charge you for those calls/messages.

Fraud Prevention and Security

At First Republic, your account security and peace of mind are of the utmost importance to us. To enhance our fraud monitoring and prevention services, we adopt and implement currently available security measures that allow us to verify the authenticity of the mobile device and phone number you use when you conduct business with us.

When you establish a relationship with First Republic, you authorize your wireless carrier to disclose information about your wireless account and device to First Republic and our service provider(s) in order to apply this added protection for the duration of your business relationship solely to help us identify you or your wireless device and prevent fraud. This also applies to any signers approved to open or close accounts or conduct transactions on your behalf. Please refer to our Privacy Policy or view our Privacy Policy at https://www.firstrepublic.com/privacy/policy.

Subaccounts

For regulatory reporting and reserve purposes, we divide checking accounts into two subaccounts: a checking subaccount and a savings subaccount. If your checking account earns interest, we will pay the same interest rate on both subaccounts. If it does not earn interest, no interest will be paid on either subaccount. In either case, your account will continue to operate, from your perspective, as one account.

We may establish a threshold for the balance maintained in the checking subaccount and may transfer funds periodically from

one subaccount to the other to meet that threshold and cover transactions against your account. Your account statements will not reflect the existence of the subaccounts, and our periodic reallocation of funds between subaccounts will not affect your ability to withdraw funds, the interest rate (if any), fees (if any) or other features of your checking account. You agree that we may treat the subaccounts as one and the same account if we receive a Legal Process regarding either subaccount or your checking account.

Compliance With Laws

You agree not to violate the laws of the United States, including without limitation, the economic sanctions administered by the U.S. Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control. You may not use your account or any account-related service to process Internet gambling transactions or conduct any activity that would violate applicable law. If we are uncertain regarding the legality of any transaction, we may refuse the transaction or freeze the amount in question while we investigate the matter.

Deposit Insurance

Your accounts with us are insured to the regulatory limits by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). For further information regarding insurance of accounts, you may write to the FDIC at 550 17th Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20429, call the FDIC's toll-free Contact Center at (877) 275-3342, or visit its website at www.fdic.gov.

Withholding of Income Tax

Unless you are exempt under federal law, we are required to withhold a portion of your taxable interest and certain other payments (this is referred to as backup withholding) if: (1) you fail to supply us, under penalties of perjury, with your correct Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN); (2) you fail to provide us with the required certified information; (3) the IRS instructs us to withhold; or (4) the IRS notifies you that you are subject to backup withholding. You must provide your TIN whether or not you are required to file a tax return. You also must certify that you are not subject to backup withholding.

We may report interest and other payments to you to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS), along with your TIN.

We may refuse to open, and we may close, any account for which you do not provide a certified TIN, even if you are exempt from backup withholding and information reporting. To avoid possible erroneous backup withholding, an exempt payee should furnish its TIN and indicate on the signature card that it is exempt.

A non-resident alien or foreign entity not subject to information reporting must certify its exempt status by completing an appropriate IRS certification form (e.g., W-8 BEN). Non-resident aliens may be required to certify their exempt status every three years (or earlier upon request) to avoid backup withholding.

You may be subject to civil and criminal penalties if you fail to provide us with a correct TIN or falsify information with respect

to withholding. For additional information on interest reporting and withholding, contact your tax advisor or the IRS.

Our Consumer Accounts

This section describes the features of our demand deposit, savings deposit and time deposit accounts that are available to meet your individual needs.

Checking Accounts

We offer several checking account plans to choose from depending on your personal checking needs. Please read each account description for further details on these accounts.

First Republic ATM Rebate Checking™

First Republic ATM Rebate Checking is an interest-bearing account that provides easy access to your money with an unlimited number of ATM withdrawals up to the available balance. At your request, we will provide your choice of an ATM Card or an ATM/Debit Card that can be used to make an unlimited number of First Republic ATM cash withdrawals or point-of-sale transactions (worldwide) at no charge by us.

Balance Requirements — Please refer to the Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for Consumer Accounts for information on the minimum opening deposit and the balance requirement to earn interest and to avoid the monthly service fee.

Fees — The average daily balance during your statement period will be used to determine whether or not you will be charged monthly service fees. Any fees will appear as a charge on the last business day of your monthly statement. For a comprehensive list of fees, including but not limited to Monthly Service Fee, applicable to your account, please refer to our Schedule of Fees and Related Charges.

You can use your ATM Card or ATM/Debit Card to withdraw cash, perform an inquiry and transfer funds between your checking and money market accounts with no ATM usage fee at ATMs located in our Preferred Banking Offices and at First Republic branded ATMs in other locations. When you use a non-First Republic ATM, you may be charged a fee by the ATM operator or any network used. Charges to you by other institutions for your transactions on non-First Republic ATMs are beyond our control. With ATM Rebate Checking, however, we will rebate the ATM access fees assessed against your account by the ATM service provider. Foreign currency conversion and other usage fees vary by country and network and are not included in the rebated ATM access fees. We rely on data received from VISA and ATM operators to accurately calculate ATM access fees, excluding foreign currency conversion and other usage fees not subject to rebate. If we cannot determine your ATM access fee, \$5 per transaction will be rebated. Domestic and foreign country ATM access fees are, in general, rebated at the end of the monthly statement cycle and circumstantially by no later than the following statement cycle. If you believe you did not receive the full ATM access fee rebate, please contact your banker or the Client Care Center at (888) 408-0288.

Interest Rates — Interest rates for ATM Rebate Checking are variable, determined by First Republic Bank, at its sole discretion, and can change at any time. For current rate information, please call or visit one of our Preferred Banking Offices, contact our Client Care Center at (888) 408-0288 or visit firstrepublic.com.

Required Rounding of Annual Percentage Yield (APY) — We may calculate certain interest rates to three decimal places. However, applicable law requires that we round the APY to two decimal places. For example, in a case where the interest rate is 0.005%, the corresponding APY would be rounded and disclosed as 0.01%. Please be aware that in such cases we pay interest at the rate calculated to three decimal places, and not at the rounded APY.

When Interest Begins to Accrue — Cash and noncash items (for example, checks) begin to earn interest on the business day your deposit is received.

Interest Compounding and Crediting — Interest is compounded daily for the actual number of days your money is on deposit and is credited to your account on the last business day of your monthly statement. Interest is computed on a 365-day year basis, including leap years.

Balance Computation Method — We use the daily-balance method to calculate the interest on your account. This method uses the daily balance of all deposited funds on which we have received credit to determine the applicable interest rate tier for each day of the statement period. This method may cause a change in the amount of interest you earn depending on the daily balance changes in your account. Your account does not earn interest on any day in which the minimum daily balance requirement specified in the Schedule of Fees and Related Charges is not maintained.

The principal in the account is reduced based upon the transaction date when a withdrawal or other debit transaction occurs, which is not always the same as the posting date. The principal balance on which interest is calculated may not be the same as that appearing on your periodic statement if there have been intervening transactions.

Interest on Closed Accounts — If your account is closed before the end of the monthly statement period, interest will be paid for the number of days the account was open during the period in accordance with the daily balance method.

Classic Checking

Classic Checking is a non-interest-bearing account with a lower minimum balance requirement to avoid the monthly service fee while providing easy access to your money with unlimited ATM withdrawals up to the available balance. **Balance Requirements** — Please refer to the Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for information on the minimum opening deposit and the balance requirement to avoid monthly service fee.

Fees — The average daily balance during your statement period will be used to determine whether or not you will be charged monthly service fees. Any fees will appear as a charge on the last business day of your monthly statement. For a comprehensive list of fees, including but not limited to Monthly Service Fee, applicable to your account, please refer to our Schedule of Fees and Related Charges.

You can use your ATM Card or ATM/Debit Card to withdraw cash, perform an inquiry and transfer funds between your checking and money market accounts with no ATM usage fee at ATMs located in our Preferred Banking Offices and at First Republic branded ATMs in other locations. When you use a non-First Republic ATM you may be charged a fee by the ATM operator or any network used. Charges to you by other institutions for your transactions on non-First Republic ATMs are beyond our control.

Basic Checking

Basic Checking is a non-interest bearing account designed to meet the basic needs of those clients who conduct a limited number of transactions.

Balance Requirements — Please refer to the Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for information on the minimum opening deposit and the balance requirement to earn interest and to avoid the monthly service fee.

Fees — Any fees will appear as a charge on the last business day of your monthly statement. For a comprehensive list of fees, including but not limited to Monthly Service Fee and fee per check paid, applicable to your account, please refer to our Schedule of Fees and Related Charges.

You can use your ATM Card or ATM/Debit Card to withdraw cash, perform an inquiry and transfer funds between your checking and money market accounts with no ATM usage fee at ATMs located in our Preferred Banking Offices and at First Republic branded ATMs in other locations. When you use a non-First Republic ATM you may be charged a fee by the ATM operator or any network used. Charges to you by other institutions for your transactions on non-First Republic ATMs are beyond our control.

Money Market Accounts

We offer two money market accounts. Each has specific features to meet your banking needs. These savings deposits allow you to make a limited number of transfers per statement period.

Money Market Savings

Money Market Savings gives you the ability to earn short term market rates. It also provides the convenience of account access through ATMs and First Republic Banking Online and can be linked to your checking account to provide overdraft protection. This account does not include check-writing capabilities or ATM/Debit Card.

Money Market Checking

In addition to the features of Money Market Savings, Money Market Checking gives you the ability to write a limited number of checks per statement period and provides you with an ATM/Debit Card that allows you to make a limited number of point-of-sale transactions.

Balance Requirements — Please refer to the Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for information on the minimum opening deposit and the balance requirement to earn interest and to avoid the monthly service fee.

Fees — The average daily balance during your statement period will be used to determine whether or not you will be charged monthly service fees. Any fees will appear as a charge on the last business day of your monthly statement. For a comprehensive list of fees, including but not limited to Monthly Service Fee and Excess Activity Fee, applicable to your account, please refer to our Schedule of Fees and Related Charges.

You can use your ATM Card or ATM/Debit Card to withdraw cash, perform an inquiry and transfer funds between your checking and money market accounts with no ATM usage fee at ATMs located in our Preferred Banking Offices and at First Republic branded ATMs in other locations. When you use a non-First Republic ATM you may be charged a fee by the ATM operator or any network used. Charges to you by other institutions for your transactions on non-First Republic ATMs are beyond our control.

Interest Rates — The interest rates for money market accounts are variable, determined by First Republic Bank at its sole discretion, and can change at any time. For current rate information, please call or visit one of our Preferred Banking Offices, contact our Client Care Center at (888) 408-0288 or visit firstrepublic.com.

When Interest Begins to Accrue — Cash and noncash items (for example, checks) begin to earn interest on the business day your deposit is received.

Interest Compounding and Crediting — Interest on Money Market accounts is compounded daily for the actual number of days your money is on deposit and is credited to your account on the last business day of your monthly statement. Interest is computed on a 365-day year basis, including leap years.

Balance Computation Method — We use the daily-balance method to calculate the interest on your account. This method uses the daily balance of all deposited funds on which we have received credit to determine the applicable interest rate tier for each day of the statement period. This method may cause a change in the amount of interest you earn depending on the daily balance changes in your account.

The principal in the account is reduced based upon the transaction date when a withdrawal or other debit transaction occurs, which is not always the same as the posting date. The principal balance on which interest is calculated may not be the same as that appearing on your periodic statement if there have been intervening transactions.

The same rate may be assigned to more than one balance range. Please refer to the rate sheet for rate information, including account balance ranges for interest rate calculations.

Interest on Closed Accounts — If your money market account is closed before the end of the monthly statement period, interest will be paid for the number of days the account was open during the period in accordance with the daily balance method.

Transfer Limitations — Transactions involving these accounts are governed by Bank policy. You may only make up to six (6) withdrawals and/or external transfers each monthly statement cycle by check (for accounts with check privileges), preauthorized or automatic transfer via an automated clearing house service (e.g., automated debits for monthly bills), draft, wire transfers, point-of-sale debit card, telephone and/or online banking, mobile banking or other electronic means (including Zelle). If you exceed this limitation, we may refuse to honor the excessive transactions, remove your transfer privileges, close the account, convert it to another type of account and/or impose a fee for exceeding the limits. Please refer to the Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for "Excess Activity Fee" information.

Note: We count checks for purposes of the transaction limitation as of the date we post them to your account (not as of the date you write them). As such, a check you write during one statement period may not be counted until a subsequent statement period.

The limit described above does not apply to withdrawals made in person at our offices, at an ATM, by mail, or telephone (via check mailed to you), or any internal transfers to another account with us or transfers made to repay a loan with us, nor is there any limit on the number of deposits that can be made to your account each month in any format. We may refuse or limit telephone and mail withdrawals, at our discretion.

Passbook Savings

Passbook Savings is ideal for a saver who wants to deposit and withdraw funds in person at one of our Preferred Banking Offices. This account does not offer check-writing capabilities and does not offer ATM Card or ATM/Debit Card services or any other electronic banking services.

Balance Requirements, Fees — Please refer to the Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for information on the minimum opening deposit and for a comprehensive list of fees applicable to your account.

Interest Rates — The interest rates for Passbook Savings are variable, determined by First Republic Bank at its sole discretion, and can change at any time. For current rate information, please call or visit one of our Preferred Banking Offices, contact our Client Care Center at (888) 408-0288 or visit firstrepublic.com.

When Interest Begins to Accrue — Cash and noncash items (for example, checks) deposited to your account begin to earn interest on the business day your deposit is received.

Deposits/Withdrawals — All deposits or withdrawals must be conducted in person at one of our Preferred Banking Offices with the presentation of the passbook. We will record any transaction you conduct and the interest credited to your account since the last time you brought in your passbook. Should the passbook be lost, a new passbook will be issued to the person producing identification satisfactory to us to identify the registered owner of the account. Entries on the passbook are subject to verification with our records. Our account records, rather than your passbook, will be deemed complete and correct.

Interest Compounding and Crediting — Interest on Passbook Savings is compounded daily for the actual number of days your money is on deposit and is credited to your account monthly or quarterly basis, as selected by you. Interest is computed on a 365-day year basis, including leap years.

Balance Computation Method — We use the daily-balance method to calculate the interest on your account. This method uses the daily balance of all deposited funds on which we have received credit to determine the applicable interest rate tier for each day of the interest payment period, monthly or quarterly, as selected by you. This method may cause a change in the amount of interest you earn depending on the daily balance changes in your account.

The principal in the account is reduced based upon the transaction date when a withdrawal or other debit transaction occurs, which is not always the same as the posting date. The principal balance on which interest is calculated may not be the same as that appearing on your periodic statement if there have been intervening transactions.

The same rate may be assigned to more than one balance range. Please refer to the rate sheet for rate information including account balance ranges for interest rate calculations.

Interest on Closed Accounts — Interest on your Passbook Savings will be paid up to, but not including, the date of withdrawal.

Time Deposits

First Republic offers a variety of Standard Terms, from 30 days to 6 years, within two types of time deposits:

- · Certificates of Deposit ("CDs")
- · Liquid Certificates of Deposit ("Liquid CDs")

Standard Terms on Our Rate Sheet		
18 month	6 Year	
12 Month	5 Year	
6 Month	4 Year	
3 Month	3 Year	
30 Day	2 Year	

With a time deposit, you agree to leave your funds in the account for a specific period, called the term. The first day of the term is called the Issue Date; the last day of the term is called the Maturity Date. The Maturity Date is the first day on which you may withdraw funds without paying an early withdrawal penalty, explained below.

Liquid CDs provide you with the flexibility of partial withdrawals, which can be made at least seven (7) calendar days after account opening and subsequently at least seven (7) calendar days after each prior withdrawal, without paying an early withdrawal penalty. However, the minimum opening balance must be maintained in the account until maturity.

Balance Requirements — Please refer to the Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for information on the minimum opening deposit and the balance requirement to earn interest and/or to maintain the account.

No additional deposits are permitted during the term of the account. We reserve the right to close the account if the account balance falls below the minimum balance.

Interest Withdrawals — You can withdraw interest any time during the term after it has been credited to your account without an early withdrawal penalty. You may request to have credited interest deposited to another account you have with us or sent to you in the form of a check. If your account renews automatically, after the grace period your interest will be added to your principal balance and will no longer be available for withdrawal without penalty. The disclosed Annual Percentage Yield (APY) assumes interest will remain on deposit until maturity. Any withdrawal of interest will reduce earnings.

Rate Information — The interest rate and Annual Percentage Yield (APY) for all new and renewing time deposits are fixed for the term of the account. For a new account, the interest rate and APY are based on the term of your account as disclosed on the applicable rate sheet when your time deposit is opened. For a renewing time deposit, the interest rate and APY will be those in effect on the date of renewal of your time deposit, for the term you have selected. The Bank may apply different rates to time deposits based on the principal balance at account opening or renewal date.

 Important Information: Upon maturity of your time deposit, please contact your banker to review the current available terms and rates published on the rate sheet. The Maturity Date is the first day you may make changes to the CD without paying an early withdrawal penalty, as explained below. Following the Maturity Date, you will have a 10-day grace period to renegotiate your time deposit, beginning on the calendar day after your Maturity Date. If you do not contact us during the grace period, your time deposit will automatically renew for the same term of months. If your maturing time deposit term is no longer published on the rate sheet, the applicable rate will be that of the next shorter available term. For example, if your maturing time deposit term is 7 months, and there is no 7-month term on the rate sheet, your time deposit will automatically renew for a 7-month term at the rate applicable to the next shorter term on the rate sheet (for instance, six months, if there is a standard six-month term).

When Interest Begins to Accrue — Interest begins to accrue on the business day you open your account or on the day your time deposit renews.

Interest and Balance Computation Method — We use the daily balance method to calculate the interest on your account. This method applies a daily periodic rate to the balance in the account each day. We also use this method to determine the minimum balance required to earn interest on your account. Time deposits do not earn interest if the minimum balance requirement is not maintained.

Interest Compounding and Crediting — Interest on all time deposits is computed on a 365-day year basis, including leap years, and is compounded daily starting on the business day when the account is opened. By default, interest is credited to your time deposit on a monthly basis, except for 30 day and 45 day terms, which are credited at maturity. However, if you prefer, interest can be credited on a quarterly or semi-annual basis or at maturity, as selected by you. For time deposits with terms of more than one year, interest must be credited at least annually.

Accrued interest is credited to your account based issue date of your time deposit. For example, if your account was issued on the 15th, interest is posted on the 15th, monthly, quarterly or yearly, depending on the interest option selected.

Interest is paid up to but not including the Maturity Date.

Automatic Renewal and Grace Period — The last day of the term is called the Maturity Date. Unless we receive other instructions, your account will automatically renew at maturity for the same term but at the interest rate in effect on the Maturity for such term. See Important Information under Rate Information above.

If you do not want to renew your time deposit, you may withdraw the funds in the account at maturity or provide us with written notice within the applicable grace period, as defined below.

There is a 10-calendar day Grace Period, beginning on the calendar day after the Maturity Date, during which you can make changes to your CD. If the 10th day is a non-business

day, the grace period will end on the business day prior to that non-business day. The grace period ends on the day you make any changes (change your term, deposit additional funds, make withdrawals) without paying an early withdrawal penalty. Any changes made after the grace period will incur the Early Withdrawal Penalty applicable by law, regulation or Bank Policy.

Interest Accrual During the Grace Period — If the account is closed during the grace period, the accrued interest between the Maturity Date and the date of closure will be paid at the Consumer Money Market Savings rate for the lowest balance tier. If the account is renegotiated for a new term, rate and/or amount during the grace period, your Issue Date will reset and a new Maturity Date will apply. You will no longer be able to make any changes until the next Maturity Date without incurring an early withdrawal penalty. We will pay interest between the Maturity Date and the new Issue Date at the Consumer Money Market Savings rate for the lowest balance tier.

Early Withdrawal Penalty — When you open a time deposit, you agree to keep the principal on deposit with us for the term you selected.

If you choose to terminate a time deposit or make a partial withdrawal of principal prior to its Maturity Date, we may impose the penalty described below on the amount withdrawn—there are special considerations for Liquid CDs as described on the following page.

Term	Penalty (simple interest)
Up to 1 year	180 days interest
More than 1 year	450 days interest

This early withdrawal **penalty may be deducted, if necessary, from the principal sum** of the time deposit. Early withdrawal penalties are calculated on the amount of the principal withdrawn. There is no early withdrawal penalty if the account owner dies or is declared legally incompetent.

Individual Retirement Accounts (IRA) — IRA CDs can be closed within the first 7 days of the account opening, with only accrued interest being forfeited.

For Liquid CDs, you are permitted to make penalty-free partial withdrawals during the term of your account, as long as these are spaced at least seven (7) calendar days apart after account opening and each partial withdrawal. A minimum balance of \$10,000, however, must be maintained on deposit until maturity. Otherwise, the account will be considered terminated before maturity. If you choose to terminate a Liquid CD prior to its Maturity Date, we may impose the Early Withdrawal Penalty (above), based on the term of the Liquid CD and assessed as follows:

When a withdrawal is	Early withdrawal penalties are calculated on the
Spaced less than 7 days apart	Amount withdrawn
Spaced less than 7 days apart and the principal balance will decrease to below \$10,000	Principal balance
Spaced at least 7 days apart and the principal balance will decrease to below \$10,000	\$10,000

Senior/Minor Checking and Savings Accounts (Available Only in Massachusetts)

If you (and all other account owners except your spouse, parent or guardian) are 65 years or older, or 18 years or younger, we will not impose any fee, charge or other assessment against one savings and one checking account established at an Office in Massachusetts. To the extent permitted by applicable law, we may also deduct certain other charges from your account, for example, fees for cashier's checks. If you are under the age of 18, you must have a parent or guardian as a joint accountholder to establish a checking account with us. You must notify us of your age if you qualify for this special account so that we may administer your account appropriately.

Individual Retirement Accounts ("IRAs")

IRAs (including Roth IRAs) are subject to the same terms and conditions as Certificates of Deposit or Money Market Savings Accounts. The IRA can be closed within the first seven days of the account opening with only accrued interest being forfeited. However, withdrawals (in full or in part) from an IRA CD at any other time prior to maturity will be subject to a substantial early withdrawal penalty as described under "Certificates of Deposit."

Tax penalties may apply to premature distributions and excess contributions. We assume no responsibility for determining tax liability. Questions about tax status should be referred to the Internal Revenue Service or a qualified tax professional.

Statements reflecting account activity and the balance in your IRA are rendered to you on at least an annual basis.

Linking Your Accounts to the Business Analyzed Checking Account

Under the Account Analysis program, the Bank offers a Business Analyzed Checking account ("the Account") to its business clients that provides Earnings Allowance based on account balances to offset Bank fees. You may allow the balances of your eligible consumer deposit accounts to be linked to the Account to increase the business Earnings Allowance to further reduce or eliminate Bank fees and charges. If mutually agreed upon by all parties (you and the owner or authorized signer of the Account), your eligible consumer deposit accounts may be linked to the

Account to determine its Earnings Allowance.

The following accounts can be linked to the Account:

- · ATM Rebate Checking
- · Classic Checking
- · Money Market Checking

When linked, these above accounts will be identified respectively as:

- · Analyzed ATM Rebate Checking
- · Analyzed Classic Checking
- · Analyzed Money Market Checking

Please note: When allowing the balances of your accounts to be linked to the Account, the information from your linked accounts will appear on the Account Analysis statement of the Account. Therefore, when deciding whether to permit your accounts to be linked to the Account, you should evaluate your privacy needs.

Fees and Charges — While your account is linked to the Account, your account will not be charged any fees listed in the Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for Consumer Accounts.

Account Transactions

Cutoff Hours

Instructions received by us on a weekend, holiday or after our cutoff hour on a business day may be treated and acted upon by us as if received on the next business day.

Authorized Signers

Your signature card and account opening record identifies who is authorized to make withdrawals, write checks, transfer funds, stop payments, obtain ancillary services (e.g., electronic fund transfer services or wire transfers), and otherwise give us instructions regarding your account.

Although your card may indicate that more than one signature is required on checks and for the withdrawal or transfer of funds, that notation is principally for your own purposes. We do not assume a duty to enforce multiple signature requirements. As such, we assume no duty to confirm that two or more (or any combination of) authorized signers have approved any transaction. We may act upon the instructions of any one authorized signer.

We may pay any check that bears a signature or endorsement (including a facsimile signature) resembling an authorized signature on file with us. You agree that signatures by your authorized agents (e.g., persons acting under a power of attorney) are valid, even if the principal agent relationship is not indicated on the check or instruction.

We may honor checks drawn against your account by authorized signers, even if the checks are made payable to them, to cash

or for deposit to their separate accounts. We have no duty to investigate or question withdrawals or the application of funds.

Limitations

We may (but are not obligated to) require suitable identification for any withdrawal or account closure or the cashing of any check. At our discretion, we may require all of your signatures for the withdrawal of funds and/or the closing of an account.

We may refuse to honor any transaction if the funds on deposit are insufficient or unavailable to cover the transaction or there is a dispute or question as to the ownership of account funds.

You may not use your account or any account-related service to conduct Internet gambling transactions or any activity that would violate applicable law.

Checks

Check prices vary according to the types of checks you select. You can obtain information on the current price of checks by contacting your banking office of account. Check charges may vary from time to time without specific notice to you. You are responsible for verifying the accuracy of all information shown on your checks and deposit tickets. If you find an error, please notify us immediately. We are not liable for losses resulting from incorrectly printed checks or deposit tickets.

If you arrange for the printing of your own checks, the form, encoding and format of the checks must follow our check specification requirements and be approved by us in advance. The name(s) printed on your checks must agree with the name(s) on our account records. If you do not purchase your checks through us, we may charge a fee for each check that is rejected during processing due to poor print quality, or if it fails to meet our specifications. You agree not to issue checks with features or marks that obscure, alter or impair information on the front or back of a check or that otherwise prevents us or another bank from capturing such information during automated check processing.

We make checks available that include fraud prevention features. If you choose not to use them or other checks that include fraud prevention features, you agree to assume a heightened degree of care for safeguarding your checks, and for reviewing all returned check images and statements as soon as you receive them.

You agree to safeguard your blank checks, and to take reasonable steps to prevent their unauthorized use. If your checks are lost or stolen, you agree to notify us immediately. For security reasons, we reserve the right to close your account and transfer the balance to a new account. If we do, all checks written but not yet paid may be returned to payees as "Account Closed" or "Refer to Maker." You will be responsible for issuing any replacement checks.

Remotely Created Checks and Demand Drafts

If you provide your account number to a third party in order to charge your account by means of one or more remotely created

checks or demand drafts (i.e., items which do not bear the maker's signature, but purport to be drawn with the maker's authorization), you authorize us to pay such items, even though they do not contain your signature and may exceed the amount you authorized to be charged. This provision shall not obligate us to honor such items. We may refuse to honor such items without cause or prior notice, even if we have honored similar items in the past.

You may not deposit remotely created checks or demand drafts to an account with us without our prior written consent. Upon our request, you agree to provide us with evidence of your authorization to create and/or deposit such items. You also agree to indemnify, defend and hold us harmless from every loss, expense, cost (including attorney's fees), claim and liability related to or arising from such items, including (without limitation) claims that they were not authorized by the persons on whose accounts the items were drawn.

Remote Transfer Instructions

Email/Fax/Voicemail — We may, but are not required to, act upon instructions received by email, fax transmission or voicemail. These include, for example, instructions to transfer funds by wire; transfers between accounts; purchase of cashier's checks, foreign drafts and other negotiable instruments; cash withdrawals and other transactions requested remotely (collectively, "Remote Transfer Instructions"). The Remote Transfer Instructions must originate from an email address or fax number in our records or that we and you agree upon. All Remote Transfer Instructions are subject to verification by us pursuant to the following security procedure, which you agree is a commercially reasonable security procedure.

Call Back — If you, or anyone you authorize, gives us Remote Transfer Instructions regarding your account(s), we may telephone you or the person you authorize at one of the telephone numbers listed in our records or another telephone number as we and you agree upon. (We will not call back to verify standing instructions unless otherwise requested by you.)

To help insure the security of accounts and the integrity of transactions, we reserve the right at any time in our sole discretion to reject Remote Transfer Instructions and require you to give us your instructions in person at one of our Preferred Banking Offices.

Security Procedure

We reserve the right, in our sole discretion at any time, to telephone you or anyone you authorize for the purpose of verifying funds withdrawal or transfer instructions for your account(s), regardless how the instructions were received. We may use any of the telephone numbers listed in our records or another telephone number that we and you agree upon. To help ensure the security of accounts and the integrity of transactions, we reserve the right to require that you give your instructions in person at one of our Preferred Banking Offices. You agree that this security procedure is commercially reasonable.

Adjustments

We may make adjustments to your account whenever a correction or change is required. Adjustments might occur, for example, if deposits are recorded or keyed in the wrong amount or items you deposit are returned unpaid.

Unauthorized Transactions and Errors

You agree to carefully and promptly review all statements, copies of cancelled checks and notices we send or make available to you. You are in the best position to discover and report any errors or unauthorized transactions involving your account. If you discover an error, unauthorized signature, alteration, forgery, counterfeit check or other unauthorized activity involving your account, you must notify us immediately by telephone, and promptly notify your banking office where your account is maintained in writing of the relevant facts, including a description of the transaction or error and the identity of any person you suspect is the wrongdoer.

You must notify us of the error or unauthorized transaction within 30 days after we have made available to you the account statement that shows the error or unauthorized transaction. If the same person has made two or more unauthorized transactions and you fail to notify us of the first one within this 30-day period we will not be responsible for subsequent unauthorized transactions by the same wrongdoer.

Without regard to care or lack of care of either you or us, if you do not discover and report an error or an unauthorized transaction within 30 days after the date of your statement or the date the information about the item or transaction is made available to you, whichever is earlier, your statement will be considered correct. We will not be responsible for any unauthorized transaction, error or claim for transactions included in that statement.

If you claim a credit or refund because of an error or unauthorized transaction, you agree to provide us with a declaration containing whatever reasonable information we require regarding your account, the transaction and the circumstances surrounding the claimed loss. We must receive your declaration within 10 days of our request. If applicable, you also agree to make a report to the police and to provide us with a copy of the report, upon request. We will have a reasonable period of time to investigate the circumstances surrounding any claimed loss. During our investigation, we will have no obligation to provisionally credit your account, unless otherwise required by law (e.g., in connection with certain consumer electronic fund transfer services).

Our maximum liability will never exceed the amount of actual damages proven by you. Our liability will be reduced: (a) by the amount of the loss that is caused by your own negligence or lack of care; (b) to the extent that damages could not have been avoided by our exercise of ordinary care; and (c) by any loss recovery that you obtain from third parties (apportioned in accordance with this provision). We will not be liable for any loss that is caused in part by your negligence if we acted with ordinary

care. Unless otherwise required by law, we will not be liable for incidental, special or consequential damages, including loss of profits and/or opportunity, or for attorney's fees incurred by you, even if we were aware of the possibility of such damages.

Unless otherwise expressly agreed in writing, our relationship with you will be that of debtor and creditor. That is, we owe you the amount of your deposit. No fiduciary, quasi fiduciary or other special relationship exists between you and us. We owe you a duty of ordinary care. Any internal policies or procedures that we may maintain in excess of reasonable commercial standards and general banking usage are solely for our own benefit and shall not impose a higher standard of care than otherwise would apply in their absence. There are no third-party beneficiaries to this agreement.

You agree to pursue all rights you may have under any insurance policy covering any loss and to provide us with information regarding coverage. Our liability will be reduced, proportionately in accordance with our responsibility for any loss, by the amount of any insurance proceeds you receive or are entitled to receive for the loss. If we reimburse you for a loss and the loss is covered by insurance, you agree to assign us your rights under the insurance policy to the extent of our reimbursement, in accordance with this provision. You waive all rights of subrogation against us with respect to any insurance policy or bond.

Note: Different notice and liability rules apply to fund transfers. See the "Electronic Banking" and "Wire and Other Fund Transfers" sections.

Deposits

Source — We may accept items payable to any of you for deposit to your account from any source without questioning the authority of the person making the deposit. We also may give cash back to any authorized account signer(s) or agent(s) in connection with items payable to any owner, whether or not the items have been endorsed by the owner. If you make a deposit or payment that is not accompanied by instructions indicating how or where it is to be credited, we may apply it at our discretion to any loan or deposit account any of you maintains with us, if permitted by applicable law.

Check Endorsement — Federal regulations provide that the top 1.5 inches on the back of a check (when read vertically from the trailing edge) is designated for your endorsement as payee. If you endorse a check in the area outside of the endorsement area, mark or otherwise obscure the other area, or make an endorsement which is illegible or incomplete, you agree to hold us harmless from any loss, delay, liability, claim or damage which occurs as a result.

We may add your endorsement and/or collect items deposited to your account without your endorsement. We also may require your personal endorsement prior to accepting an item for deposit. If you deposit an item that bears the endorsements of a person or persons who are not known to us, we may refuse

the item, require all endorsers to be present or require that the endorsements be guaranteed by another financial institution acceptable to us before we accept the item. You warrant that any third-party checks you deposit to your account will be endorsed or authorized for deposit by the co-payees.

Items Sent for Collection — We and other institutions may refuse to accept a check or other item for deposit or may accept it on a collection basis only. This sometimes occurs with foreign, questionable or damaged items. If we accept an item for collection, we will send it to the institution upon which it is drawn, but will not credit your account for the amount until we receive the funds from the other institution. If we elect to credit your account before then, we may charge the amount back against your account if we do not receive payment for any reason. We may impose a fee in connection with sending and receiving items for collection (e.g., by charging your account or deducting the fee from the amount remitted). Other institutions that send or receive items for collection involving your account also may impose a fee for their services.

Cashing or Depositing Checks for Others — You should not use your account to cash or deposit into your account checks for others who are not well known to you. Although we may make funds provisionally available to you and may take steps to determine whether a check will be paid, you are responsible for any loss that occurs if the check is returned to us for any reason (e.g., because it is counterfeit). Our employees cannot promise that checks drawn on or issued by other institutions, including cashier's checks, will be paid.

Verification and Collection — Any item that we cash or accept for deposit is subject to later verification and final payment. We may deduct funds from your account if an item is lost, stolen or destroyed in the collection process, if it is returned to us unpaid, or if it was improperly paid, even if you have already used the funds. All deposits, including cash deposits, are subject to later verification.

ACH Provisional Credits — Credit for an automated clearing house ("ACH") transfer is provisional until final payment is received by the payee's financial institution. Until that happens, the party originating the transfer is not deemed to have made payment to the payee, and the payee's bank is entitled to a refund of the provisional credit. If we give you provisional credit for an ACH transfer, but do not receive final payment, we may charge your account for the full amount without prior notice or demand.

Notice of Incoming Transfers — We are not required to give you a separate notice of our receipt of an ACH transfer. If we accept ACH credits to your account, you will receive notice of the credit on your next regular statement. Although we may send notice of a non-ACH incoming funds transfer (e.g., a wire), we assume no obligation to do so. Transfers to your account will be reflected on your regular periodic statement. You also can contact your Office of account during normal business hours to determine if a transfer has been credited to your account.

Returned Items/Transactions — If we are notified that an item you cashed or deposited is being returned unpaid, we may attempt to reclear the item, place a hold on the funds in question (see "Funds Availability") or charge your account for the amount (and any interest earned on it), whether or not the return or notice of non-payment is proper or timely. This also applies to checks drawn on us which are not paid for any reason, and to checks and other transactions that are returned or charged back to us in accordance with any law, regulation, funds transfer system or clearinghouse rule. We may assess a fee for each returned item/transaction and notify you of the return orally, electronically or in writing.

If we receive an affidavit or a declaration under penalty of perjury stating that an endorsement on an item deposited to your account is forged, that the item contains an alteration or that there has been a breach of warranty in connection with any item or transaction, we may charge the item or transaction back against your account or place a hold on the funds pending an investigation, without prior notice to you.

Our Right to Refuse Deposits — We may refuse to accept a deposit or an addition to an account, limit its size or return all or part of it to you. We reserve the right to limit the amount of funds that may be maintained in an account.

Withdrawals

Advance Notice — As required by federal law, we reserve the right to require seven days' advance written notice of an intended transfer or withdrawal of funds from any savings account, money market deposit account or certain interest-bearing checking accounts. We currently do not exercise this right and have not exercised it in the past.

Cash Withdrawals — Cash withdrawals or payments at any Office may be restricted due to the limited amount of currency on hand. If we do not have sufficient cash for a large withdrawal or payment, we may make arrangements for a later cash payment or offer to make payment with a Bank check. We assume no responsibility to provide personal protection for customers who elect to carry large sums of money off our premises.

Discrepancies in Amount — If there is a discrepancy in a check you have written between the amount in numbers and the amount in words or embossed numbers, we may utilize either amount in paying the item or may dishonor the item, without liability.

Check Signature Verification — We may process certain checks mechanically, based on the information encoded on the items. This means that we may not visually examine each of your checks to determine if they are properly completed and endorsed, and we assume no duty to identify and/or return duplicate checks, checks with duplicate serial numbers, misencoded items or checks lacking an encoded serial number. Although we may examine checks from time to time, you understand that reasonable commercial standards do not require us to do so.

Requirements — We may refuse to pay any check that bears a signature that (in our opinion) does not satisfactorily compare

with the specimen signature on file with us. All checks written on your account must be drawn in U.S. Dollars.

Facsimile Signatures — You agree not to use facsimile signatures on checks unless we receive representative samples and approve their use. We may refuse to accept or may pay items bearing facsimile signatures. You agree to assume full responsibility for any and all payments made by us in reliance upon signatures that resemble the actual or facsimile signature(s) (without regard to variation in color or size) that any of you provide to us in connection with your accounts or services. You authorize us to pay any check that appears to bear your authorized facsimile signature, without further inquiry. You agree to indemnify, defend and hold us harmless from any and all actions, claims, losses, damages, liabilities and expenses (including attorney's fees) arising directly or indirectly from the misuse or the unlawful or unauthorized use or copying of facsimile signatures (whether affixed manually, by stamp, mechanically, electronically or otherwise).

Electronic Presentment/Posting — We may charge your account on the day that a check or other transaction is presented (or returned) to us directly or electronically for payment. We may charge your account or place a hold on funds at an earlier time if we receive notice that a check or other item deposited to your account is being returned, or if we receive notice that your check or electronic payment (e.g., at a point of sale) is being processed for collection. Please note: Some merchants may obtain authorizations in advance for point-of-sale transactions in an amount greater than the final transaction amount. You agree that we may place a hold on sufficient funds to cover the amount of the authorized transaction, pending its final settlement through the system, even if that amount exceeds the actual amount of the transaction. This could affect the balance available to cover other transactions.

Account Limitations — Money Market and Passbook Savings accounts: Transactions involving these accounts are governed by Bank policy, the bank reserves the right to limit transactions as follows: You may only make up to six (6) withdrawals and/or external transfers each monthly statement cycle by check (for accounts with check privileges), preauthorized or automatic transfer via an automated clearing house service (e.g., automated debits for monthly bills), draft, wire transfers, point-of-sale debit card, telephone and/or online banking, mobile banking or other electronic means (including Zelle). If you exceed this limitation, we may refuse to honor the excessive transactions, remove your transfer privileges, close the account, convert it to another type of account, and/or impose a fee for exceeding the limits. Please refer to the Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for "Excess Activity Fee" information.

Note: We count checks for purposes of the transaction limitation as of the date we post them to your account (not as of the date you write them). As such, a check you write during one statement period may not be counted until a subsequent statement period.

The limit described above does not apply to withdrawals made in person at our offices, at an ATM, by mail, or telephone (via check mailed to you), or any internal transfers to another account with

us or transfers made to repay a loan with us, nor is there any limit on the number of deposits that can be made to your account each month in any format. We may refuse or limit telephone and mail withdrawals, at our discretion.

Check Processing Cutoff Hour — If we receive an item for payment on a weekend, a holiday or after 4:00 p.m. Pacific Time on a business day, we may treat it as if we had received it on the next business day. Our processing cutoff hour with respect to any knowledge, notice, stop payment or postdated check order, or legal process received by us involving a check is one hour after the opening of the business day following the business day on which we receive the check. The cutoff hour with respect to the return of provisional funds where a check is returned is midnight of the business day following the business day we receive a check, or such later time by which we must return the check. The cutoff hour determines our obligation under state law to pay or return certain checks that have been received (but not finally paid) by us on the previous business day.

Checks Bearing Notations — Although we are not obligated to, we may pay or accept checks and other items bearing restrictions or notations (e.g., "Void after 6 months," "Two Signatures Required," "Void over \$50.00," "Payment in Full," and the like), whether on the front or back, in any form or format. If you cash or deposit an item or write a check with such a notation, you agree that it applies only between you and the payee or maker. The notation will have no effect on us, and you agree to accept responsibility for payment of the item.

Postdated Checks — Unless you provide your banking office of account with a written postdated check notice that describes a postdated check with reasonable certainty, we may pay the check before the date stated on the check. Your notice must include the exact amount (dollars and cents), account number, check number, date of check and the name of payee. If you provide us with a postdated check notice in a time and in a manner which affords us a reasonable opportunity to act on it, we will not pay the item and may return it (marked "payment stopped," "postdated" or otherwise) if it is presented to us prior to the date indicated in the order (up to six months from the date of the notice). After six months, a notice is no longer effective and must be renewed. We may impose a fee for each notice. If we re-credit your account after paying a postdated check over a valid and timely postdated check notice, you agree to transfer to us all your related rights against the payee or other holder of the check, and to assist us in any legal action we take against that person.

Stale Dated Checks — You agree that we may, at our discretion, pay or reject a check that is presented to us for payment more than six months after its date (a "stale dated" check), even if the presentation occurs after the expiration of a stop payment order. We normally do not examine the date on checks presented for payment. You agree that we are not required to identify stale dated checks or to seek your permission to pay them.

Photocopies — Checks and other items are sometimes lost during processing or while in transit. If a photocopy of a check or other item that appears to be drawn on your account is

presented to us for payment in place of the original, we may pay the photocopy if it is accompanied by a representation from another financial institution that the original item has been lost or destroyed. We will not incur any liability in the event the original item is later presented to and paid by us, unless a stop payment order is in effect for the check.

Stop Payment Orders — Any owner or authorized signer on your account may request us to stop payment on a check or transaction. You may request a stop payment by mail, in person at any one of our Offices, online via First Republic Banking Online if you have registered for the service or by calling our Client Care Center at (888) 408-0288. Your stop payment order must include the account number, check number, exact amount (dollars and cents), check or transaction date, and the name of the payee. We will not be liable for paying a check or transaction over a stop payment order if the order is incomplete or incorrect. We must receive stop payment orders at a time and in a manner which affords us a reasonable opportunity to act upon them.

There is a per check/transaction charge for each stop payment order. Stop payment orders are valid for three years. After that time, the check may be paid and charged to your account unless you renew the stop payment order for an additional fee.

We are not required to accept oral stop payment orders. If we elect to act upon an oral stop payment order, however, you agree to promptly confirm the order in writing and deliver it to us. If you fail to do so within 14 calendar days, we may release the stop payment. Our records will be conclusive evidence of the existence, details of, and our decision regarding any oral stop payment order or its revocation.

You may not stop payment on point-of-sale Debit Card transactions, cashier's checks, or checks or payments guaranteed by us. Under certain circumstances, however, you may be able to claim a refund on lost, stolen or destroyed cashier's checks 90 days following the date of their issuance. You also should contact us promptly if you wish to stop the payment of a check that has been converted to an electronic transaction by a merchant. Electronic transactions are often processed on the same day and cannot be stopped with a regular check stop payment order.

Order of Payments — This paragraph generally describes how we post transactions to your accounts. Please note that this process may change from time to time, without prior notice to you. Our order of posting depends on a number of factors, including when a transaction occurs, whether it has already been approved by us with your authorization or has become final, the order in which it is presented, the amount and type of transaction in question, system availability and potential risk of loss to the Bank, among other variables. Usually, deposits are posted before debits, and ACH debits and checks are posted at night in time stamp order. We generally process returned deposits, adjustments, cash paid checks, other obligated debits and previously authorized or guaranteed transactions, wires, ATM and Debit Card transactions and internal transfers before we pay ACH debits and checks. We always reserve the right to post transactions that are payable to us first, and we may post any transaction earlier or later in the process than indicated. As such, if you want to avoid an overdraft or the possibility of a rejected transaction, you should take steps to ensure that your account has sufficient funds to cover each of your transactions and associated fees.

Overdrafts — If you do not have sufficient available funds on deposit to cover the amount of a check or other transaction (e.g., in-person withdrawal, automatic payment or other electronic transaction), we may return the check or reject the transaction without payment. Our policy is to decline to process any ATM withdrawal and/or any individual Debit Card transaction if, at the time authorization is requested we have a reasonable belief that your account has insufficient funds to cover the transaction. With regard to checks or other transactions, we may elect, in our sole discretion, to create an overdraft by paying a check or permitting a transaction.

If we permit an overdraft or you otherwise allow your account balance to drop below zero, you agree to pay the amount of the overdraft promptly, without notice or demand from us. You agree that we may use subsequent deposits and other credits to the account to cover any overdraft existing in your account, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.

Each account owner is jointly and severally responsible for paying any overdrafts created by any authorized signer(s) or party to the account, whether or not the owner participates in the transaction or benefits from its proceeds.

Our payment of any checks or allowance of transactions that create overdrafts in no way obligates us to continue that practice at a later time. We may discontinue permitting overdrafts without cause or notice to you. We strongly discourage the practice of overdrawing accounts.

Fees — Our Schedule of Fees and Related Charges describes the fees associated with our accounts and services. Some services are negotiated separately and may be subject to other written agreements with us. Information on fees for services not covered by the schedule is available upon request. In addition to fees, you agree to pay for all taxes, tariffs and assessments levied or imposed by any government agency in connection with your account or account-related services (excluding any income tax payable by us).

Certain fees may change without specific notice to you. Account owners must promptly pay the fees and charges associated with their accounts and services, and are jointly and severally liable for such fees. We may deduct account fees automatically from your accounts.

Wire and Other Fund Transfers

Payment Orders

The following provisions apply to payment orders governed by Article 4A (Division 11 in California) of the Commercial Code (e.g., domestic wire transfers). They do not apply to the transactions described in the "Electronic Banking" section. They also do not

apply to international wire transfers ("remittance transfers") governed by Federal Reserve Board Regulation E to the extent they are inconsistent with Regulation E or the disclosures we provide to you for such transfers — for these remittance transfers, please refer to the Consumer International Remittances / Wire Transfers under Electronic Banking section in this agreement.

Processing Orders

At our discretion, we may process your payment order to transfer funds to another account with us or to an account maintained with another financial institution. We reserve the right to reject any payment order without cause or prior notice, and may notify you of the rejection orally, electronically or in writing.

Cutoff Hours

Our processing hours for payment orders vary based on location, transaction type and other factors. Information about our processing hours is available upon request. We may process any payment order we receive after our processing cutoff hour on our next funds transfer business day.

Payment Order Accuracy

You must accurately describe the beneficiary of your payment order and the beneficiary's financial institution. If you describe any beneficiary or institution inconsistently by name and account or identifying number, we and other institutions may process the order solely on the basis of the number, even if the order identifies a person or entity different from the named beneficiary or institution. We may also process incoming fund transfers based on the account number, rather than on any inconsistent name reflected in the payment order. Unless otherwise required by Regulation E, if you give us a payment order that is erroneous in any way, you agree to pay the amount of the order whether or not the error could have been detected by any security procedure we employ.

Cancellation and Amendment of Payment Orders

Except for foreign remittance transfers, you do not have a right to cancel or amend any payment order after we receive it. Although we may attempt to act on any amendment or cancellation request you make (e.g., if it is received in a time and manner which permits us to do so), we assume no responsibility for failing or refusing to do so, even if we could have effected the change or cancellation. Except for foreign remittance transfers, you agree to indemnify, defend and hold us harmless from any loss, damage, claim, action and liability that results, and any charges and costs we incur, in connection with any request by you to amend or cancel a payment order.

Foreign Transfers

Foreign transfers may be subject to delays, charges imposed by other financial institutions, and changes in foreign currency exchange rates. If you direct a payment order to a foreign country, we may execute the order in the currency of the country of the payee's bank at either our buying rate of exchange for U.S. dollar transfers or the exchange rate of the payee bank. If the transfer is made in U.S. Dollars, we cannot guarantee that the beneficiary will receive the funds in U.S. currency. The beneficiary bank may convert the funds into the local currency and may also charge incidental fees. If for any reason the payment order is returned to us, you agree to accept the refund in U.S. dollars in the amount of the foreign money credit, based on the current buying rate on the day of the refund, less any charges and expenses incurred by us.

Security Procedure

We may process any payment order we believe is transmitted or authorized by you. When you place a payment order we will follow a security procedure established for your protection and ours to verify that the transfer has been properly authorized. You understand that the security procedure is designed only to verify the source of the payment order instruction and not to detect errors in the content of that instruction or to prevent duplicate transfers. Unless we agree on another security procedure, you agree that we may confirm the authenticity of payment orders (among other ways) by utilizing fraud technology such as behavioral analytics or by placing a call to any authorized signer on your account. By placing a payment order, you agree to our use of the applicable security procedure; you agree that the established procedure is commercially reasonable; and you agree to be bound by any funds transfer request that we receive and verify in accordance with the security procedure outlined above. Such payment orders will be deemed effective as if made by you, and you will be obligated to pay us in the amount of such orders, even though they are not transmitted or authorized by you. If we cannot reach you, or if the payment order is not confirmed or approved in the manner we require, we may refuse to execute the payment order.

Notice of Errors

You agree to review all statements and notices promptly to confirm the accuracy and authorization of each payment order. You must notify us immediately if there is any discrepancy between your payment order and any confirmation or statement of account, or if you discover any other problem with respect to a transfer. You must send a written notice to us of the discrepancy or other problem, including a statement of the relevant facts, within a reasonable time (not to exceed 14 days from the date you first discover the problem or receive a statement or notice reflecting the problem, whichever occurs first).

See "Consumer International Remittances / Wire Transfers" under the Electronic Banking section of this Agreement for other terms and conditions that may apply.

Limitation of Liability

Except as otherwise required by law for foreign remittance transfers: (a) our liability for any act or failure to act shall not exceed the direct resulting loss, if any, which you incur and payment of interest, and (b) we will not be liable for any consequential, indirect or special damage that you incur in connection with payment orders, even if we are aware of the possibility for such damages.

Funds Availability

Your Ability to Withdraw Funds

Our policy is to generally make funds from your check deposits available to you on the same business day we receive your deposit. Deposits of checks drawn on First Republic Bank and deposited into a First Republic checking, savings or money market account, cash, electronic direct deposits, and wire transfers are available on the business day we receive the deposit. A deposit received by mail at P.O. Box 2966, San Francisco, CA 94126-2966 will be considered made on the business day of receipt at an authorized location for mail deposits before our established cut-off time at 4:00 p.m. Pacific Time. Deposits to the night depository will be considered made when removed and available for processing by us. Once they are available, you can withdraw the funds in cash and we will use the funds to pay checks that you have written. Please keep in mind, however, that after we make funds available to you, and you have withdrawn the funds, you are still responsible for checks you deposit that are returned to us unpaid and for any other problems involving your deposit.

For determining the availability of your deposits, every day is a business day except Saturdays, Sundays and federal holidays. If you make a deposit at a First Republic Preferred Banking Office or First Republic ATM before 4:00 p.m. Pacific Time on a business day, we will consider that day to be the day of your deposit. However, if you make a deposit after 4:00 p.m. Pacific Time, or on a non-business, we will consider that the deposit was made on the next business day.

Your ability to withdraw funds from mobile deposits is outlined in your Digital Terms of Use Agreement.

Longer Delays May Apply

In some cases, we will not make all of the funds that you deposit by check available to you on the same business day of your deposit. If we do not make all of the funds from your deposit available on the same business day, we will notify you at the time you make your deposit. We will also tell you when the funds will be available. If your deposit is not made directly to one of our employees, or if we decide to take this action after you have left the premises, we will mail you the notice by the next business day after we receive your deposit. If funds being deposited are needed right away, please work with your Banker to determine the earliest funds availability.

When you deposit checks totaling more than \$5,525, funds may not be available until the second business day after the day of your deposit. The first \$5,525 of your deposit(s), however, may be available on the first business day after the day of your deposit.

Additionally, the reasons in which funds you deposit by check may be delayed for a longer period include:

- We believe a check you deposit will not be paid.
- You redeposit a check that has been returned unpaid.

- You have overdrawn your account repeatedly in the last six months.
- There is an emergency, such as failure of computer or communications equipment.

We will notify you if we delay your ability to withdraw funds for any of these reasons, and we will tell you when the funds will be available. They will generally be available no later than the seventh business day after the day of your deposit.

This section does not apply to Treasury checks and checks drawn on First Republic Bank payable to you. Funds from these checks are available the same business day of your deposit.

Special Rules for New Accounts

If you are a new client or do not have an existing checking, money market or savings account with us, the following special rules will apply during the first 30 days your account is open. Your account is considered a "new account" for thirty (30) calendar days after the account is opened if you have no other deposit relationship with us and you are a new client. Examples of "new accounts" include: 1) a new client who is transferring their accounts to First Republic and has no other established relationship with First Republic; and 2) a new client is referred to First Republic by an existing client. The new client does not have an established relationship with First Republic.

Funds from cash, electronic direct deposits, Treasury Checks, wire transfers and checks drawn on First Republic Bank deposited to your account will be available on the day we receive the deposit. The first \$5,525 of a day's total deposits of other checks, including cashier's, certified, teller's, traveler's and federal, state and local government checks, will be available on the first business day after the day of your deposit if the deposit meets certain conditions. For example, the checks must be payable to you. The excess over \$5,525 will be available on the fifth business day after the day of your deposit.

Holds on Other Funds

If we cash a check for you that is drawn on another bank, we may withhold the availability of a corresponding amount of funds that are already in your account. Those funds will be available at the time funds from the check we cashed would have been available if you had deposited it.

If we accept for deposit a check that is drawn on another bank, we may make funds from the deposit available for withdrawal immediately, but delay your availability to withdraw a corresponding amount of funds that you have on deposit in another account with us. The funds in the other account would then not be available for withdrawal until the time periods that are described above in this disclosure for the type of check that you deposited.

Electronic Banking

The following terms apply to Electronic Fund Transfers (EFT) (e.g., consumer ATM, point-of-sale (POS) and Automatic Clearing House (ACH) transfers) and to, where indicated, consumer international wire transfers designated as remittance transfers under federal law. It applies to accounts established primarily for personal, family or household purposes. Any authorized signer on an account may apply for electronic fund transfer services on behalf of all authorized signers. Once an electronic fund transfer service is established, any authorized signer on your account may act alone in conducting electronic fund transactions, regardless of the number of required signers indicated on the account's signature card. Some EFT services are subject to separate terms and conditions (e.g., transfers using our Consumer Online and Mobile Banking channels, including person-to-person transfers, internal and external transfers, or bill payment) which are provided to you when enrolling in a specific service.

ATM Card and ATM/Debit Card

An ATM Card allows you to withdraw cash at Automated Teller Machines (ATMs) and make purchases at POS merchants using your Personal Identification Number (PIN). ATM/Debit Card is a card bearing a Visa® brand that may be used at ATMs and at POS merchants to make either PIN or Signature purchases.

When you open a checking or a money market account, you may request a First Republic ATM Card or ATM/Debit Card (collectively referred to as "Card" in this agreement) depending on the type of account you open.

If you do not select your PIN at account opening, you will receive the PIN in a separate mailing. Your PIN is required for all Card transactions at proprietary First Republic ATMs, at Network ATMs or for PIN-based POS purchase transactions. You agree to keep your PIN confidential. No bank employee knows your PIN or will ever ask for it. For your protection, we encourage you to periodically change your PIN. You can change your PIN at any time at a proprietary First Republic ATM.

We will automatically send you a new Card before your current one expires. When you receive your new Card, you will need to activate the Card by following the instructions enclosed with the Card. You will need to sign your new Card and destroy your old Card.

Please note that the Card we issue you is and remains the property of First Republic. We have the right to take possession of it, to demand its return and to cancel it at any time. You agree to return the Card to us upon request.

For complete information about these Cards, including but not limited to type of transfers, limitations, fees, rights and liabilities, please refer to the Consumer ATM Card or ATM/Debit Card Terms of Use provided with your card.

Electronic Check Conversion

You may authorize a merchant or other payee to make a onetime electronic payment from your checking account using information from your check to pay for purchases or pay bills.

Preauthorized/Automatic Transfers

Preauthorized electronic fund transfers may be made to your account from a third party (e.g., Social Security, a pension fund or your employer) or from your account to a third party (e.g., recurring mortgage or insurance payments through the Automated Clearing House). Preauthorized transfers do not include: (a) transactions initiated by check, draft or similar paper instrument, (b) transfers to or from non-personal accounts, (c) individual transfers we initiate under an agreement with you, but without your specific request (e.g., automatic savings and automatic loan payments to us from your account), or (d) transfers initiated by telephone. Please note: If federal recurring or other electronic payments are made into your account, the payments may be affected by a change in account status or transfer (e.g., to another Office). If you plan to transfer your account or change its status, please speak with us in advance about the impact the change may have on your electronic fund transfer services.

How to Stop Preauthorized Transfers from Your Account

If you have told us in advance to make regular payments out of your account, you can stop any of these payments by writing to us at First Republic Bank, 111 Pine Street, San Francisco, CA 94111, Attn: Deposit Services, by visiting your Office of account, by calling your banker, or our Client Care Center at (888) 408-0288.

We must receive your request at least 3 business days before the payment is scheduled to be made. (Note: If you fail to give us your request at least 3 business days prior to a transfer, we may attempt, at our sole discretion, to stop the payment. We assume no responsibility for our failure or refusal to do so, however, even if we accept the request for processing.) If you call, we may require you to put your request in writing and to provide us with a copy of your notice to the payee, revoking the payee's authority to originate debits to your account, within 14 days after you call. If we do not receive the written confirmation within 14 days, we may honor subsequent debits to your account. Your request should specify: your account number, the exact amount (dollars and cents) of the transfer you want to stop, the date of the transfer or, for recurring transactions, the next scheduled deduction date, and the identity of the payee.

A stop payment fee may apply. Please refer to the Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for applicable fees.

Unless you tell us that all future transfers to a specific recipient are to be stopped, we may treat your stop payment order as a request concerning the one transfer only.

Our liability for failure to stop payment of preauthorized transfer – If you order us to stop one of these payments at least

three business days before the transfer is scheduled and we do not do so, we will be liable for your losses or damages.

Effective Period of Stop Payment Order – A stop payment order is effective for three years on consumer accounts. For recurring transactions, this means that your stop payment order will stop all subsequent withdrawals/payments initiated by that originator (payee) unless you contact the Bank and request that the stop payment order be removed.

Payment over Valid Stop Payment Order – If you believe that we have debited a transaction from your account over a valid stop payment order, we may require you to provide us with evidence of our acceptance of a valid stop payment order and an affidavit describing in detail your loss resulting from the payment of the transaction and, if applicable, further describing in detail your dispute with the payee. If we subsequently determine that you were indebted to the payee for the exact amount of the transaction or less, you agree that we will have the right to debit your account for the amount of the indebtedness. If your account has sufficient funds to cover the indebtedness, we may also exercise our right of setoff.

Record of Your Transactions

Receipts — You can get a receipt at the time you make any transfer to or from your account using one of our ATMs or a POS terminal; however, receipts for transactions of \$15 or less may not always be available. All ATM transactions are subject to later verification by us.

Preauthorized Credits — If you have arranged to have direct deposits made to your account at least once every 60 days from the same person or company, you can call our Client Care Center at (888) 408-0288 to find out whether or not the deposit has been made.

Account Statements — You will get a monthly account statement showing any transfers that occur in a particular month.

Varying Preauthorized Transfers — If you have arranged in advance to make regular payments out of your account and they may vary in amount, the person you are going to pay will tell you ten days before each payment when it will be made and how much it will be. You may choose instead to get this notice only when the payment would differ by more than a certain amount from the previous payment or when the amount would fall outside certain limits that you set.

Our Liability for Failing to Make Transfers

If we do not complete an electronic fund transfer to or from your account on time or in the correct amount according to our agreement with you, we will be liable for your losses or damages. There are some exceptions, however. We will not be liable, for instance, if:

 Through no fault of ours, you do not have enough available funds in your account to make the transfer;

- The transfer would exceed any permitted overdraft line of credit or linked account you have with us;
- The ATM where you are making the transfer does not have enough cash;
- Circumstances beyond our control (such as fire, flood, water damage, power failure, strike, labor dispute, computer breakdown, telephone line disruption, a natural disaster or a rolling blackout) prevent or delay the transfer despite reasonable precautions taken by us;
- The system, ATM or POS terminal was not working properly and you knew about the problem when you started the transaction;
- The funds in your account are subject to legal process, an uncollected funds hold or are otherwise not available for withdrawal;
- The information supplied by you or a third party is incorrect, incomplete, ambiguous or untimely;
- We have reason to believe the transaction may not be authorized by you; or
- The transaction cannot be completed because your Card is damaged.

There may be other exceptions stated in our agreement with you.

Lost or Stolen Card/PIN or Unauthorized Transaction

If you believe your Card or PIN has been lost or stolen or that someone has transferred or may transfer money from your account without your permission, it is your responsibility to notify us immediately. Please call our Client Care Center at (888) 408-0288 or write to us at First Republic Bank, 111 Pine Street, San Francisco, CA 94111, Attn: Deposit Services. You should also notify us if you believe a transfer has been made using the information from your check without your permission.

Your Liability for Unauthorized Electronic Fund Transfers

Tell us AT ONCE if you believe your Card or PIN has been lost or stolen, or if you believe that an electronic fund transfer has been made without your permission using information from your check. Telephoning is the best way of keeping your possible losses down. You could lose all the money in your account (plus the money in an account linked for overdraft coverage or your maximum overdraft line of credit). If you tell us within two business days after you learn of the loss or theft of your Card or PIN, you can lose no more than \$50 if someone used your Card or PIN without your permission. If you do NOT tell us within two business days after you learn of the loss or theft of your Card or PIN, and we can prove we could have stopped someone from using your Card or PIN without your permission if you had told us, you could lose as much as \$500.

Note: Unless we determine that you were grossly negligent or fraudulent in the handling of your account or Card, you will not be liable for the \$50 or \$500 amounts described above for transactions with a Visa ATM/Debit Card processed over the Visa® network (excluding ATM transactions).

If you are a California resident, you will not be liable for the \$500 amount described above in any event. If you are a Massachusetts

or New York resident, your liability for the unauthorized use of your Card will not exceed \$50.

If your statement shows transfers that you did not make, including those made by Card, PIN or other means, tell us at once. If you do not tell us within 60 days after the statement was mailed or otherwise made available to you, you may not get back any money you lost after the 60 days if we can prove that we could have stopped someone from taking the money if you had told us in time. If a good reason (such as a long trip or a hospital stay) kept you from telling us, we will extend the time periods.

Non-Personal Accounts — The provisions in this Electronic Banking section dealing with "Our Liability for Failing to Make Transfers," "Your Liability for Unauthorized Electronic Fund Transfers," and "In Case of Errors or Questions About Your Electronic Fund Transfers" (and related provisions on the back of periodic statements) do not apply to business or other non-personal accounts. If you use your account for business purposes you should notify us immediately if you discover any unauthorized transactions or errors involving your Card or account. You must send us a written notice of the problem within a reasonable time, not to exceed 14 days from the date of discovery or your receipt of the first statement or notice reflecting the problem, whichever occurs first.

You are liable for all unauthorized transactions made with your ATM/Debit Card or the PIN associated with your Card that occur prior to the time you notify us to cancel your Card, that an unauthorized transaction has taken place, or that your Card or PIN has been lost or stolen.

There is one exception to this liability: Unless you are grossly negligent or fraudulent in the handling of your Debit Card or account, you will not be liable for unauthorized signature-based Debit Card transactions processed through the Visa® network. It is important that you review your statements closely, however. If your statement shows transactions you did not make, contact us at once. If you fail to notify us of unauthorized transactions within 60 days after the first statement or report showing unauthorized activity was sent or made available to you, you will be liable for unauthorized transactions are not considered unauthorized if they are made by a business co-owner or any other person with an interest in or authority to transact business on your account, even if the person exceeds any authority given by you.

In Case of Errors or Questions About Your Electronic Fund Transfers

Call our Client Care Center at (888) 408-0288 or write us at First Republic Bank, 111 Pine Street, San Francisco, CA 94111, Attn: Deposit Services, as soon as you can if you think your statement or receipt is wrong or if you need more information about an electronic transaction. We must hear from you no later than 60 days after we sent the FIRST statement on which the problem or error appeared.

- 1. Tell us your name and account number.
- Describe the error or the transfer you are unsure about, and explain as clearly as you can why you believe it is an error or why you need more information.
- 3. Tell us the dollar amount of the suspected error.

In addition, it would be helpful if you provided us with any supporting documentation related to the error.

If you tell us orally, we may require that you send us your complaint or question in writing within 10 business days.

We will determine whether an error occurred within 10 business days after we hear from you and will correct any error promptly. If we need more time, however, we may take up to 45 days to investigate your complaint or question. If we decide to do this, we will credit your account within 10 business days for the amount you think is in error, so that you will have the use of the money during the time that it takes us to complete our investigation. If we ask you to put your complaint or question in writing and we do not receive it within 10 business days, we may not credit your account.

For new accounts (where the notice of error involves an electronic funds transfer to or from your account, that occurred within 30 days after the first deposit to the account was made), we can take up to 20 business days to determine whether an error occurred and up to 20 business days to provisionally credit your account for the amount you think is in error. If we need more time, however, we may take up to 90 days to investigate your complaint or question. For errors involving point-of-sale or foreign-initiated transactions, we may also take up to 90 days to investigate your complaint or question.

We will tell you the results within three business days after completing our investigation. If we decide that there was no error, we will send you a written explanation. You may ask for copies of the documents that we used in our investigation.

Consumer International Remittances / Wire Transfers

The following provisions apply to international wire transfers from consumer accounts.

Disclosures — Prior to sending an outgoing international wire, First Republic Bank will provide to you a disclosure of the transaction details, such as the amount of the wire transfer including the exchange rate and the amount in foreign currency as applicable, a description and amount of fees assessed by First Republic Bank, the amount the recipient will receive, as well as the date when the funds will be available. Once a payment for an international wire has been made, First Republic Bank will provide you with a proof of your payment.

Cancellation — You have the right to cancel your international wire transfer and obtain a refund of all funds paid to us, including any fees. In order to cancel, you must contact us within 30 minutes of your authorizing payment for the transfer. To cancel a transfer, you must notify First Republic Bank by calling your

banker or our Client Care Center at (888) 408-0288 for wires in U.S. dollars and (877) 888-0177 for wires in foreign currency. You will need to provide us with information to help identify the transaction you would like to cancel, including the amount and location where the funds were to be sent. We will refund your money within 3 business days of your request to cancel a transfer as long as the funds have not already been picked up or deposited into a recipient's account. Please note that wire cutoff hours may be adjusted to allow for the cancellation period.

Error Resolution — If you believe an error or problem has occurred with respect to an international wire transfer, or you need more information about your transfer, you must notify us through your banker or:

	By Phone	By Mail		
Transfers in U.S. Dollars	(888) 408-0288	First Republic Bank Attn: Deposit Services 111 Pine Street San Francisco, CA 94111		
Transfers in foreign currency	(877) 888-0177	First Republic Bank Attn: Foreign Currency Wires 160 Federal Street, 8th Floor Boston, MA 02110 Email: foreignexchange@ firstrepublic.com		

You must notify First Republic Bank within 180 days of the date funds would be available to the recipient indicated on the disclosure provided to you at the time of your wire transfer request. When you contact First Republic Bank, we will ask for (i) your name and contact information, (ii) the name of the funds recipient, (iii) the date and amount of the wire, (iv) the confirmation number from your disclosure, (v) the error or problem with the wire transfer and why you believe it is an error or problem. We will determine whether an error occurred within 90 days after you contact us and we will correct any error promptly. We will tell you the results within 3 business days after completing our investigation. If we decide that there was no error, we will send you a written explanation. You may ask for copies of any documents we used in our investigation.

Incorrect Account Number or Recipient Institution — Please note that, in the event you provide an incorrect account number or recipient institution identifier, you could lose the transfer amount.

Fees

There is no charge for making cash withdrawals with a Card at First Republic ATM locations. If you conduct a transaction at an ATM that is not operated by us, the operator of the ATM or any network utilized to effect the transaction may charge a fee and you may be charged a fee for balance inquiry even if you do not

complete a funds transfer. See our current Schedule of Fees and Related Charges for other charges related to electronic fund transfer services.

Business Days

Our business days are Monday through Friday, excluding federal holidays.

Confidentiality at First Republic Bank

We will disclose information to third parties regarding your account and the transactions you perform:

- 1. When it is necessary for completing transfers;
- In order to verify the existence and condition of your account for a third party such as a credit bureau or merchant;
- In order to comply with government agency or court orders; or
- 4. If you give us your permission.

For additional information please refer to our Privacy Policy or view our Privacy Policy at https://www.firstrepublic.com/privacy/policy.

Change in Terms / Termination of Service

We may add to, delete or amend these terms or terminate your use of our electronic fund transfer services at any time, with or without cause and without affecting your outstanding obligations under this agreement by sending you prior notice. We may terminate or suspend operation of certain electronic banking services at any time based upon security issues and other factors including but not limited to: any of you breach this or any other agreement with us; we have reason to believe that there has been or may be an unauthorized use of your account, Card or PIN; there are conflicting claims to the funds in your account; or any of you requests that we do so. If you ask us to terminate your account or the use of any Card, you will remain liable for subsequent transactions performed by you or any authorized user.

Account Statements, Notices and Periodic Statements

If we provide you with a notice or statement, electronically or otherwise, you must promptly and carefully review it to determine if any errors or problems exist. You agree to notify us immediately of any error, discrepancy or unauthorized transaction you discover on any statement, notice or check. If you fail to do so, you may become responsible for the losses resulting from such failure. You agree not to entrust the writing of checks and the reconcilement and review of your account statements and notices to the same person without frequent monitoring. We may deny a claim for monetary loss due to forged, altered or unauthorized checks if you fail to follow these procedures.

Statements and notices are normally sent to the last address (or email address, if you have an agreement with us for such notice) listed with us for your account. If you ask us to hold statements and notices for you, we may mail them to you or destroy them if they are not picked up within a reasonable time. Notify us promptly if you do not receive your statement by the date you normally would expect to receive it.

Statements and notices sent or made available to any of you are deemed to be received by all of you. If we hold them at your request or because you fail to provide us with a current address, they will be deemed delivered to you when they are prepared (for held statements), mailed (for returned mail) or otherwise made available to you (e.g., at a website or email address if you have agreed to electronic communications). We may hold statements if the post office notifies us that your mail is undeliverable. At our discretion, we may destroy mail that is returned to us or determined to be undeliverable.

You must mail or deliver all notices to us in writing at the Office where you maintain your account or at such other address(es) as we designate in this agreement or elsewhere. Notices sent elsewhere may be delayed or may not reach the correct Office.

Check Images

We do not return your paid checks to you. Instead, images of the checks will be sent or made available to you each month with your account statement. Your original checks may be destroyed shortly after we process the checks, but we will maintain a record of the checks for several years. You can obtain copies of your checks by sending us a written request with the following information: your name, account number, check number, the amount of the check and (if known) the date the check was paid. We will not be responsible for any indirect, special or consequential damages under any circumstances for our inability to provide copies of checks. Our liability, if any, will not exceed the face amount of the check in question, and you must provide us with reasonable proof of any loss.

Substitute Checks

You agree not to deposit substitute checks, as described below, or checks bearing a substitute check legal equivalence statement ("This is a legal copy of your check. You can use it the same way you would use the original check.") to your account without our prior written consent. Unless we agree otherwise in writing, our acceptance of such checks shall not obligate us to accept such items at a later time, and we may cease doing so without prior notice. If we approve the deposit of substitute checks, you agree to indemnify, defend and hold us harmless from all losses, costs, claims, actions, proceedings and attorney's fees that we incur as a result of such checks, including without limitation, any indemnity or warranty claim that is made against us because: (a) the check fails to meet the requirements for legal equivalence. (b) a claimant makes a duplicate payment based on the original check, the substitute check, or a paper or electronic copy of either; or (c) a loss is incurred due to the receipt of the substitute check rather than the original check. Upon our request, you agree to provide us promptly with the original check or a copy that accurately reflects all of the information on the front and back of the original check when it was truncated.

You agree not to issue checks with features or marks that obscure, alter or impair information on the front or back of a check or that otherwise prevents us or another bank from capturing such information during automated check processing.

We may convert original checks to substitute checks.

The following notice applies to consumer accounts and supersedes, where inconsistent, other terms in this agreement with respect to substitute checks.

Substitute Checks and Your Rights

What Is a Substitute Check?

To make check processing faster, federal law permits banks to replace original checks with "substitute checks." These checks are similar in size to original checks with a slightly reduced image of the front and back of the original check. The front of a substitute check states: "This is a legal copy of your check. You can use it the same way you would use the original check." You may use a substitute check as proof of payment just like the original check.

Some or all of the checks that you receive back from us may be substitute checks. This notice describes rights you have when you receive substitute checks from us. The rights in this notice do not apply to original checks or to electronic debits to your account. However, you have rights under other law with respect to those transactions.

What Are Your Rights Regarding Substitute Checks?

In certain cases, federal law provides a special procedure that allows you to request a refund for losses you suffer if a substitute check is posted to your account (for example, if you think that we withdrew the wrong amount from your account or that we withdrew money from your account more than once for the same check). The losses you may attempt to recover under this procedure may include the amount that was withdrawn from your account and fees that were charged as a result of the withdrawal (for example, bounced-check fees).

The amount of your refund under this procedure is limited to the amount of your loss or the amount of the substitute check, whichever is less. You also are entitled to interest on the amount of your refund if your account is an interest-bearing account. If your loss exceeds the amount of the substitute check, you may be able to recover additional amounts under other law.

If you use this procedure, you may receive up to \$2,500 of your refund (plus interest if your account earns interest) within 10 business days after we received your claim and the remainder of your refund (plus interest if your account earns interest) no later than 45 calendar days after we received your claim.

We may reverse the refund (including any interest on the refund) if we later are able to demonstrate that the substitute check was correctly posted to your account.

How Do You Make a Claim for a Refund?

If you believe that you have suffered a loss relating to a substitute check that you received and that was posted to your account, please contact our Client Care Center at (888) 408-0288.

Any written correspondence should be sent to us at First Republic Bank, 111 Pine Street, San Francisco, CA 94111, Attn: Deposit Services. You must contact us within 40 calendar days of the date that we mailed (or otherwise delivered by a means to which you agreed) the substitute check in question or the account statement showing that the substitute check was posted to your account, whichever is later. We will extend this time period if you were not able to make a timely claim because of extraordinary circumstances.

Your claim must include:

- · Your name and account number;
- A description of why you have suffered a loss (for example, you think the amount withdrawn was incorrect);
- · An estimate of the amount of your loss;
- An explanation of why the substitute check you received is insufficient to confirm that you suffered a loss; and
- A copy of the substitute check and/or the following information to help us identify the substitute check: the check number, the date of the check, the name of the person to whom you wrote the check, and the exact amount of the check (dollars and cents).

Special Circumstances

Death or Adjudication of Incompetence

You agree to notify us immediately of the death or court declared incompetence of any owner, authorized signer or designated beneficiary on your account. We may disregard any notice of incompetence unless the person in question has been declared incompetent by a court of appropriate jurisdiction and we receive written notice and instructions from the court regarding the account. We also may freeze, offset, refuse and/or reverse deposits and transactions (e.g., governmental or retirement benefit payments payable to the deceased) if an owner dies or is adjudicated incompetent. If we are obligated to return funds removed from the account following the death or incompetence of any owner, the other owners agree to reimburse us for the amount.

If your account ownership records indicate that the account is held in "joint tenancy," upon the death of any owner, the deceased owner's share passes automatically to the surviving owner(s). If the account is held as "tenants in common," a deceased owner's share passes to the estate or other legal representative of the deceased tenant. If the account is held by a husband and wife or by registered domestic partners as "community property,"

ownership of the account will be determined by community property law and may be affected by a will. "Pay On Death" and Totten Trust ("In trust for") accounts pass automatically (and in equal shares) to the named beneficiaries who survive the last surviving owner.

If we have any question as to the ownership of funds or the amount of funds that belong to any person upon the death of an owner, we may freeze all or part of the account, pending receipt of proof (satisfactory to us) of each person's right to the funds.

Inactive Accounts

For security reasons, we may refuse a withdrawal or transfer from accounts that have been inactive for a period of time if we cannot reach you in a timely fashion to confirm that you authorize the transaction. Service charges for "inactive accounts" are the same as service charges for active accounts. Charges are not reimbursed for inactive accounts that are later reclassified as "active."

We may transfer (escheat) your property to the appropriate state if no activity occurs in the account or you fail to communicate with us regarding your account within the time period specified by state law. Under the laws of some states we may be required to consider an account inactive even if you maintain another active account with us. We may impose a fee for sending a dormant account notice to you prior to transferring the funds to the state. If funds are transferred to the state, you may file a claim with the state to recover the funds.

Legal Process

We may comply with any writ of attachment, execution, garnishment, tax levy, restraining order, subpoena, warrant or other legal process which we believe to be valid, as permitted by law. You may have rights to contest such legal process on your own behalf under applicable law. We may notify you of such process by telephone, electronically or in writing, unless we are prohibited by law from doing so. If we need to determine the jurisdiction in which your account(s) are maintained to process or comply with Legal Process, we will rely on our account records to determine the jurisdiction where your account(s) are maintained. If we are not fully reimbursed for our record research, photocopying and handling costs by the party that served the process, we may charge such costs to your account, in addition to our minimum legal process fee. To the extent allowed by law, you agree to reimburse us for any cost or expense, including attorney fees, which we incur in responding to legal process related to your accounts, and we may deduct these fees and expenses from any of your accounts without prior notice to you.

We may hold and turn over funds or other property to the court or creditor as directed by the legal process, subject to any security interest we have in the funds or other property. We may not pay interest on any funds we hold or set aside in response to legal process. If we hold or turn over funds, we may without any liability to you return checks and other items unpaid and refuse to permit withdrawals from your account. If the legal process applies to a time deposit account, we may charge the applicable early withdrawal penalty for funds taken from the

time deposit. You agree that we may honor legal process that is served personally, by mail, email or facsimile transmission at any of our Offices (including locations other than where the funds, records or property sought is held), even if the law requires personal delivery at the Office where your account or records are maintained or at another Office designated by us for that purpose. You acknowledge that, subject to applicable law, accounts opened with trust or fiduciary designations may be subject to levies and other legal process against your property unless our records clearly reflect the existence of an express written trust or court order, or applicable law provides otherwise.

Setoff

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we may charge or set off funds in your account for any direct, indirect and/or acquired obligations that any owner owes us now and/or in the future, regardless of the source of the funds in the account. This provision does not apply to IRA or tax-qualified retirement accounts, to consumer credit card obligations, or where otherwise prohibited by law.

Termination/Closing Your Account

Any authorized signer(s) may close your account at any time, with or without cause. We are not required to provide notice of such closure to the other authorized signers on the account. We may automatically close your account if the account balance is zero.

We may terminate your account relationship with us at any time, with or without cause, by giving oral, electronic or written notice to any of you. We need not disclose the reason to you. If the funds are not withdrawn, we may send a check for the collected account balance to any of you at the last address we have on file for the account. Thereafter, the funds will stop earning interest (even if the check is returned or remains uncashed for any reason).

We may dishonor any check, item or transaction presented for payment after an account is closed. At our sole discretion, we may honor checks, items and orders presented or occurring after an account is closed if the transaction is guaranteed by us to third parties (e.g., under a check guarantee or as part of an electronic fund transfer arrangement) or you fail to give us a timely stop payment order for any outstanding checks. You remain responsible for such items and transactions, which may be treated as overdrafts.

We may report information, including negative account activity, about you and any joint account owners or authorized signers on the account (including any account closed by First Republic) to a consumer reporting agency. As a result, this may prevent you from obtaining services at other financial institutions, including opening an account. If you believe that we have inaccurately reported information to a consumer reporting agency, you have the right to file a dispute with that consumer reporting agency.

Force Majeure

We shall not be liable for any loss, expense, failure to perform, or delay caused by failure of communication systems, accidents,

strikes, fire, flood, war, riot, civil strife, terrorist attack, earthquake, power outage, funds transfer system or government rules, acts of third parties, or any cause that is beyond our reasonable control.

Dispute Resolution

California

If your account is maintained at an Office in California and a dispute involving \$50,000 or more (including all claims of all parties) arises between us with respect to the account, this agreement, its enforcement or our account services, either of us may require that it be resolved by judicial reference in accordance with California Code of Civil Procedure, Sections 638, et seq. The referee shall be a retired judge, agreed upon by the parties or appointed by the court. The costs of the reference procedure, including the fee for the court reporter, shall be paid equally by all parties as the costs are incurred. The referee shall hear all pre-trial and post-trial matters, including requests for equitable relief, prepare an award with written findings of fact and conclusions of law, and apportion costs as appropriate. Judgment upon the award shall be entered in the court in which such proceeding was commenced and all parties shall have full rights of appeal.

Other States

If your account is not maintained in California, you and we each waive our respective rights to a trial before a jury in connection with disputes related to this agreement, your account or account services to the fullest extent permitted by law. This waiver shall not apply if, at the time an action is brought, your account is maintained in a state where this jury trial waiver is not permitted by law. In that circumstance, if the claims of all parties are not limited to \$100,000 or less, you and we agree that all decisions of fact and law in any action brought in connection with this agreement, your account or account services shall be decided, at the option of either party, by binding arbitration, administered by the American Arbitration Association, in accordance with Title 9 of the United States Code (Federal Arbitration Act) and the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association, and conducted in San Francisco County, California. You and we agree that the arbitrator(s) may conduct some or all of the arbitration by telephone if the arbitrator(s) find that doing so is appropriate given the location of the parties and the amount in question.

A single arbitrator will be chosen for any dispute that involves a total claim of less than \$250,000. In that case, the arbitrator will only have the authority to award up to \$250,000, including all damages and costs of every kind. A submission to a single arbitrator will be deemed a waiver of any right to recover more than that amount. A dispute involving total claims exceeding \$250,000 will be decided, upon the request of either party, by a majority vote of a panel of three arbitrators. An arbitrator must be an attorney with 15 or more years of practice or a retired judge.

Neither you nor we may join or consolidate disputes as a representative or member of a class in any arbitration, or act in any arbitration in the interest of the general public or in a private attorney general capacity.

All States

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, this provision will not be deemed to limit or constrain either party's right to exercise self-help remedies, such as setoff, to obtain provisional or ancillary remedies, such as injunctive relief or the appointment of a receiver, to interplead funds in the event of a dispute, to exercise any right or remedy as a secured party against any collateral pursuant to the terms of a security agreement, or to comply with legal process involving accounts or other property. Venue for any action or arbitration brought in accordance with this provision shall be San Francisco County, California. Disputes in an amount subject to the jurisdiction of that state's small claims court shall not be subject to an arbitration or judicial reference proceeding.

Limitation on Time to Bring Action

Unless otherwise required by law, an action or proceeding by you to enforce an obligation, duty or right arising under this agreement or by law with respect to your account or any account service must be commenced no later than one year after the day the cause of action accrues.

Waivers

We may delay enforcing our rights under this agreement without losing them. Any waiver by us shall not be deemed a waiver of other rights or of the same right at another time. You waive diligence, demand, presentment, protest and notice of every kind, except as set forth in this agreement.

Our services are provided in the following markets:

San Francisco

Palo Alto

Los Angeles

Santa Barbara

Newport Beach

San Diego

Portland

Jackson

Palm Beach

Boston

Greenwich

New York

Bellevue

Executive Office 111 Pine Street San Francisco, CA 94111 (415) 392-1400 (800) 392-1400 firstrepublic.com

It's a privilege to serve you®

NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE SYMBOL: FRC
MEMBER FDIC AND EQUAL HOUSING LENDER 📾